IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-2285

RICHARD M. COOPER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS AND PASCO COUNTIES, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHEN F. HANLON, ROBIN L. ROSENBERG, RACHEL E. FUGATE, Holland & Knight LLP, Post Office Drawer 810, Tallahassee, Florida 32302; MARK S. GRUBER, Office of the Capital Collateral, Regional Counsel – Middle Suite 210, 3801 Corporex Park Drive, Tampa, Florida 33619, COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Through nefarious actions, conflicts and incompetence, both the prosecutors and Mr. Cooper's own defenders deprived the trial court and jury of the opportunity to know the real Richard Cooper, and the real circumstances surrounding the crime for which he was convicted. Given the egregious actions of counsel on both sides, this Court can have no confidence that the jury's narrow recommendation for death or the trial court's death sentence were just. This proceeding, along with the simultaneously filed Habeas petition, challenges both Mr. Cooper's conviction and his death sentence. Mr. Cooper incorporates by reference the facts and legal arguments set forth in his Habeas brief and urges the Court to contemporaneously consider both briefs in order to achieve a just result in this matter.*

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT ON REFERENCES

References to the Record on direct appeal of the judgments and sentences in this case will be denominated "(Dir. 123)." References to the Record in the post-conviction evidentiary hearing will be denominated "(ROA. 123)." Items that were not included in the post conviction Record as originally prepared by the Pinellas

xiii

^{*} In the event that the Court finds that any claim in this appeal is barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal, Mr. Cooper requests that the Court consider that claim as an ineffective assistance of appellate counsel claim in his Habeas petition.

County Clerk, but were listed in Mr. Cooper's three Motions To Supplement And Correct the Record will be denominated as "Supp." and will include the date filed, abbreviated document title and internal page number, e.g. "(Supp. 12/07/83 Skalnik Depo., p. 12)." Citations to transcripts include the correct spelling for names transcribed phonetically by the court reporter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Richard Cooper

Richard Cooper is a 38-year-old man who has spent half of his life on death row. On June 18, 1982, the night of the crime, Richard was 18 years old and had an 8th grade education. He had never committed a violent crime before, and he has not committed one since. But prior to that night Richard Cooper had been the victim of violence. For years he suffered extreme physical and emotional abuse at the hands of his father and older brother. (ROA. 1236) Richard developed a dependent "follower" personality and at the age of 11 began medicating himself with drugs, alcohol and solvents to cope with his life. (ROA. 1234-36, Dir. 401) He was under the influence of both drugs and a dominant personality, J.D. Walton, on the night of the crime. (ROA. 1425, 1449, 1454-55)

When he was awaiting trial for the murders, Richard Cooper was so mentally distraught that he mutilated himself, attempted suicide in jail and had to be placed on psychotropic medication. (ROA. 612-31) Since his conviction, and during his lengthy incarceration, he has been a model prisoner who has adapted well to his surroundings. (ROA. 1256-57) From the time of his incarceration, through November 1999 when Dr. Fisher testified at the 3.850 hearing, Mr. Cooper had only 1 disciplinary report, issued 15 years earlier for disobeying an order. (ROA.

1235)

B. Procedural History

1. Trial & Sentence

Richard Cooper was indicted for three counts of first-degree murder on March 2, 1983 in Pinellas County, Florida. (Dir. 34) Trial began on Tuesday, January 10, 1984. (Dir. 182) The State's theory at trial was that Mr. Cooper individually caused the death of all three victims. The facts of the case are reported in the direct appeal, *Cooper v. State*, 492 So. 2d 1059 (1986). The jury convicted Mr. Cooper as charged on Friday, January 13, 1984. (Dir. 214-16)

A penalty phase hearing was conducted on Saturday morning, January 14, 1984. (Dir. 220) The State relied on the testimony of jailhouse informant Paul Skalnik to establish aggravators, and the defense adduced only the testimony of Juanita Kokx, Mr. Cooper's mother, to establish mitigators. (Dir. 1422-96) All testimony was concluded before noon on Saturday the 14th, and by the end of that afternoon, the jury returned its advisory sentence recommending death on each of the three counts. (Dir. 226-28) On March 14, 1984, a judicial sentencing proceeding was conducted and the Court imposed a sentence of death on each count of first-degree murder. (Dir. 236)

2. <u>Direct Appeal</u>

A notice of appeal was filed on March 20, 1984. (Dir. 249) The trial court's sentencing memorandum, filed 70 days later, on May 30, 1984, included the specific finding that Mr. Cooper delivered the fatal shot to Steven Fridella. (Dir. 243) On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Cooper's convictions and sentences. *Cooper v. State*, 492 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1986). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on February 23, 1987. *Cooper v. State*, 479 S. Ct. 1101 (1987).

3. Collateral Attacks

On April 18, 1989, Governor Martinez signed a warrant of execution for Mr. Cooper. His execution was set for June 20, 1989. Mr. Cooper filed a Rule 3.850 motion on February 23, 1989 (ROA. 1) and an amended Rule 3.850 motion on May 18, 1989. (ROA. 126) An undated petition for habeas corpus and a petition for stay of execution (ROA. 729) were filed in the Florida Supreme Court and given FSC Case No. 74, 171. The trial court issued an indefinite stay of execution on June 7, 1989. (ROA. 774) The petition for habeas corpus, FSC Case No. 74,171 was denied without prejudice by the Florida Supreme Court on September 7, 1999.

On August 11, 1992, the trial court summarily denied some of the claims

raised in the amended motion post-conviction relief and granted an evidentiary hearing on the rest. (ROA. 810) After an evidentiary hearing was set, collateral counsel initiated litigation to obtain public records pursuant to Florida Chapter 119. The public records litigation culminated on February 19, 1997 in a 4-3¹ denial by this Court of Mr. Cooper's Petition for Writ of Mandamus.²

Judge Downey who took the case over upon the death of Judge Walker, conducted an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Cooper's 3.850 over nine days between September 3, 1999 and June 23, 2000. (ROA. 955-1843) On August 15, 2001, he entered an order denying remaining claims raised in Defendant's motion and amended motion to vacate judgment and sentence. (ROA. 2252) On August 30, 2001, the Defendant filed a motion for rehearing or clarification which Judge Downey denied on September 12, 2001. (ROA. 2680, 2687) Defendant timely filed this appeal on October 11, 2001. (ROA. 2767)

C. Mr. Cooper's Trial Counsel

The Court appointed Ronnie G. Crider to represent Mr. Cooper on February 3, 1983. (Dir. 25) At the time of the appointment Crider had just left the Pinellas

¹ Justices Shaw, Anstead, and Kogan would have issued the order to show cause.

² Appellant respectfully requests that the Court take judicial notice of the Petition for Writ of Mandamus, case no. 84-390, as it was a separate proceeding before this Court, and therefore not in the record for this case.

County State Attorney's office where he had begun his legal career a little more than three years earlier. (ROA. 707) At the State Attorney's Office, Crider never had primary responsibility for a capital case. (ROA. 707) On March 10, 1983, Crider requested, and the trial court granted, the appointment of a second attorney Ky Koch, to assist in the defense. (Dir. 40, 42)

Koch was an Assistant State Attorney for Pinellas County from 1976 to 1979 then entered private practice. Koch had no experience trying capital murder cases either as a prosecutor or defense attorney before undertaking Mr. Cooper's defense. (ROA. 712, 1016-17) Crider and Koch shared the \$3,500 maximum fee then provided by Florida statute for capital defense. (ROA. 708)

While in private practice, Koch occasionally dealt with a process server named Paul Skalnik. (ROA. 1519) In 1982 Koch represented Skalnik in proceedings related to a violation of probation concerning a grand theft charge in which Skalnik misrepresented himself as a lawyer. (ROA. 711, 1044)

On May 31, 1983 Mr. Cooper was placed into a cell with Skalnik. Two weeks later, on June 14, 1983 Skalnik provided Sheriff's Department detectives with statements allegedly made by Mr. Cooper about the crime. (Dir. 518) The

D.

The State's Sole Penalty Phase Witness: Skalnik the Snitch

State subsequently listed Skalnik as a witness. On November 18, 1983, Crider

deposed Skalnik in connection with the Cooper case. In that deposition, Crider informed Skalnik that Mr. Cooper was also represented by Koch who had worked with and formerly represented Skalnik. (ROA. 1826) Crider requested, and Skalnik agreed, to waive any conflict stemming from Koch's former representation of Skalnik. (ROA. 1826) The State was present at that deposition and therefore knew about Koch's prior representation of Skalnik. (ROA. 1826) Despite that former representation, Crider and Koch agreed that Koch would be primarily responsible for the examination of Skalnik at trial. (ROA. 712, 1021)

1. <u>Skalnik's Background and Snitching Activities</u>

In the early 1970s Skalnik worked as a police officer in Texas. (Dir. 483)

He began accumulating felony convictions in Florida in the early 1980s. In

November of 1982 Mr. Skalnik was incarcerated in the Pinellas County maximumsecurity jail pending five felony charges. (Dir. 480) In March 1983, he was
sentenced to five years in prison on those charges. (Dir. 481) Skalnik's
convictions have primarily been for grand larceny based on fraudulent activities.

While in the Pinellas County jail, Skalnik made a practice of informing on his fellow inmates. He gave notes of interviews with inmates to a detective so that they would be given to the State Attorney's Office to assist them in these cases. (Dir. 485) Skalnik was known to jail personnel as an informant. An undated

memorandum discussing a jail house investigation in August of 1983 contains the following notation, "Note: Skalnik has been working as a confidential informant on jail activities for Detective O'Brian . . . " (ROA. 611) At the time of Mr. Cooper's trial, Skalnik estimated that he had informed on nearly thirty defendants. (Dir. 493)

In January, 1983 Skalnik was placed in a two-man cell to protect him from the general population because he had received numerous threats stemming from his snitching activities. (Dir. 482, 493) In fact, Skalnik was never transferred to the state prison system because of his status as an informant. Conveniently, his lengthy stay in county jail allowed him to obtain information on additional inmates awaiting trial. (ROA. 494-96) In June of 1984, Skalnik was sent to Arizona to serve his time, rather than to Florida prison. (ROA. 577)

2. <u>Skalnik's Testimony</u>

Skalnik did not testify in the guilt phase, but he was the only substantive prosecution witness in the penalty phase.³ Defense counsel had attempted to preclude or limit Skalnik's testimony with pre-trial motions in limine and to suppress. The basis for the motions was a *Henry/Massiah* claim that Skalnik was acting as an agent of the State when he obtained statements from Mr. Cooper. The

³ The State did call the case agent in the penalty phase, however, the only purpose of his testimony was to confirm that Skalnik provided credible evidence concerning the location of a ski mask used in the crime. The existence of the mask did not support an aggravator, but merely served to bolster Skalnik's testimony.

trial court conducted an evidentiary hearing on those motions on the first morning of trial.

a. Pre-trial testimony

Koch began the hearing by questioning Skalnik about "how many instances and in how many cases have you provided information to law enforcement officers since your incarceration in November of 1982." (Dir. 482) At no time did Koch specifically ask Skalnik about the number of times he had snitched on defendants in prior incarcerations. Skalnik could not specifically recall how many defendants he had testified against, but he knew it was a number of people and said that several people could be involved in one case. (Dir. 482) When queried about the timing of his cooperation, Skalnik testified that Mr. Cooper was the first, or possibly the second, person against whom he had informed. (ROA. 486-88) Later, while on cross-examination by the State, Skalnik provided a modest accounting of his snitching activities: "Q. I believe you indicated that you testified before in several other cases. A. Yes sir, only about two or three, yes sir." (Dir. 496) In reality, Skalnik had, prior to Mr. Cooper's trial, testified against ten

defendants.4

The State perpetuated Skalnik's deception through its objections. First, when Koch attempted to determine whether Skalnik ever told "Mr. Cooper that you routinely provided information to the State Attorney's office." The State objected, "Objection, again leading. It's indicated that Mr. Cooper was the first individual in this that he provided information for." (Dir. 492) Later that morning, in his argument to the court on the motions to preclude or suppress Skalnik's testimony, the prosecutor again argued, "The testimony is that this was the first instance of the case that he has testified he provided information. . . ." (Dir. 527) At the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, having been deprived of the true history of Skalnik's activities as an informant, the trial court found that Skalnik was not an agent of the state and permitted him to testify.

Despite his adoption of Skalnik's deception during the hearing, after the hearing, Crow confronted Koch about the way he conducted his examination.

(ROA. 784) Specifically, Crow asked Koch why he had not brought out the fact that Skalnik had testified during **prior** incarcerations. (ROA. 784) He advised

_

⁴ Prior to testifying against Cooper Skalnik testified against: Clarence Clark, 80-889; Roger Peterson, 80-9918; Peter Pfluger, 81-17175; Franklin Gale, CRC81-2332C; Jerome Hall, CRC81-3533; Orestes Troche, 81-3534, Lee Green, 81-4013; Guillermo Cortina, 81-4103, Melvin Glazner 81-6157-60; Fernando Fernandez 81-6720

Koch of Skalnik's having previously testified for the State and offered to have Skalnik retake the stand and relate the details of those incidents for the court's consideration. (ROA. 784) Koch did not take Crow up on his offer. (ROA. 784)

In response to the instant 3.850 motion, the State discussed the foregoing Skalnik testimony by asserting that, "the state made no attempt to keep Skalnik's past from defense scrutiny and **assumed** they were aware of it." (ROA. 783) (emphasis supplied) The State alleged that "Both Crider and Koch had been Assistant State Attorneys during the timeframe in 1981 that Mr. Skalnik was a witness for the State;" and "Koch had represented Mr. Skalnik in a sentencing motion in November 1982." (ROA. 783) Interestingly, the State did not assert that defense counsel knew about Skalnik's past due to its disclosure of *Brady* material.

b. Trial Testimony

At the penalty phase hearing, Skalnik essentially repeated the details of the crime that Mr. Cooper had provided in his confession to the police five months before Mr. Cooper and Skalnik were housed together. Skalnik also testified extensively about Mr. Cooper's alleged lack of remorse and bragging about the crime, and that the jury would not convict because he was so young. (Dir. 534)

The cross-examination of Skalnik by Koch, Skalnik's former lawyer,

⁵ Actually Koch left the State Attorney's Office in 1979.

occupies only three pages of the trial transcript. (Dir. 1454-1458) Less than a page and a half of that transcript is devoted to impeachment. The cross- examination is more notable for what it does not contain, than what it does. For example, Koch never asked Skalnik how many times he had been convicted of a felony. Koch simply asked about the charges for which Skalnik was then serving time. Other than a passing reference to a charge of masquerading as a lawyer, Koch made no effort to explore the details of either Skalnik's current or past convictions. (Dir. 1457) Likewise, Koch failed to explore, in any detail, Skalnik's relationship with the government. Koch made no effort to show that Skalnik was promised or expected to receive benefits for his testimony. On re-direct examination, Skalnik testified that he was promised nothing in exchange for his testimony and that he did not expect a sentence reduction. (Dir. 1458-59)

3. <u>Skalnik's Post-Trial Activities and Recantations</u>

In March, 1985 Skalnik was released from custody in Arizona where he was sent to serve the remainder of his Florida sentence. (ROA 577) Upon his return to Florida he worked for Bruce Young, one of the prosecutors in this case, who had by then left the State Attorney's office. (ROA 577, 1403) Skalnik was charged in 1986 with grand larceny (ROA 577) and was booked into jail again in 1988. (ROA. 609) In April of 1989 he plead guilty to charges of grand larceny, in exchange for a

five-year sentence to run current with a Texas sentence. (ROA 578) After his guilty plea, Skalnik met with prosecutors to prepare for his testimony in Mr. Cooper's post conviction proceedings. (ROA 578)

Between the summer of 1988 and February of 1989, Skalnik wrote or at least signed a number of pleadings, letters and affidavits bearing on his testimony in the Cooper case. On August 7, 1988 Skalnik verified a Motion to Dismiss for Prosecutorial Misconduct in which he alleged that "he has always worked in the capacity as an agent for the State." (ROA. 562) He also stated that in Mr. Cooper's case, among others, he was coached in testimony, supplied facts, and instructed how to answer questions about agreements with the state to make it appear that he had no such agreement, when in fact he did. (ROA 563) He also alleged "that the Defendant at all times was told that what he was doing was proper and that such testimony was proper, notwithstanding that such testimony deceived the jury in over fifty (50) cases the Defendant testified in." (ROA. 562)

On February 16, 1989 Skalnik signed an affidavit asserting that Mr. Cooper was placed in his cell so he could obtain information; that the Cooper prosecutors promised that they would take care of him in exchange for his cooperation; and that he was coached prior to his testimony (ROA. 606) In May of 1989 Skalnik revised, initialed and signed an affidavit prepared by an attorney from the Volunteer

Lawyer Resource Center. (ROA. 574) In it he detailed some of his snitching activities prior to Mr. Cooper, discussed how he had been coached prior to his testimony; recounted the prosecutor's statement that Skalnik was going to get out of pending charges based on his cooperation in Cooper; and stated that he was warned about speaking with defense counsel for Mr. Cooper. (ROA. 574-78) At the 3.850 hearing, Skalnik recanted his statements, claiming that they were made in anger. (ROA. 1482)

E. Mitigation Presentation

1. <u>Defense Mitigation Presentation at Trial</u>

At Richard Cooper's penalty phase proceedings, the only witness called by the defense was Juanita Kokx, Mr. Cooper's mother. Ms. Kokx testified that Richard's father was very hard on the children; that on one occasion Richard witnessed his father physically abusing her; and that Richard was not an assertive person. (Dir. 1469-77) After she had testified for a half an hour, the prosecution asked for an ongoing objection to relevance since Ms. Kokx's testimony was "nothing that relates to any of the mitigating circumstances." (Dir. 1479) The objection was overruled, but defense counsel concluded its presentation shortly thereafter. (Dir. 1479-1481) Ms. Kokx's abbreviated testimony did not begin to paint an accurate picture of Richard Cooper's life.

2. <u>Mitigation Fact Witnesses Available to the Defense but Not</u> Presented at Trial

At the 3.850 hearing, counsel presented the testimony of several witnesses to paint a complete picture of Richard Cooper's life from his childhood to the time of trial. They demonstrated first, that Richard's father was not merely "hard" on his children, but repeatedly and violently abused Richard. Second, that Richard's older brother, Donnie continued that abuse. And third, that as a consequence of the abuse at the hands of these older men, Richard Cooper was shaped into a dependent personality easily led by strong-willed older men. These witnesses were willing and able to testify on Richard's behalf, but were not contacted by Richard's trial counsel. A brief summary of their testimony follows:

a. Peggy Jo Cooper-Chipman

Richard Cooper's older sister by seven years, (ROA. 1160) Peggy described their father as a controlling, violent man who mercilessly beat his children on a daily basis. She testified that their father would "bang our heads together.

And he would make us grab our ankles and bend over, and he would either beat us with a belt or he would kick us in the butt with the point of his cowboy boots."

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