IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RICHARD M. COOPER,

Appellant,

vs. 2285 CASE NO. SC01-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, FLORIDA

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Senior Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 Phone: (813) 801-0600 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Cooper's last claim asserts error in the summary denial of other issues. This Court must affirm where the trial court properly applied the law and competent substantial evidence

supports its findings. Diaz, 719 So. 2d at 868.

It must be noted at the outset that, although Cooper's brief offers a conclusory allegation that the court below erred in denying an evidentiary hearing on claims 3, 5b, 5c, 5d, 5f, 5g, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, and 19, the argument in his brief only offers specific claims of error with regard to the denial of claims 3, 5, 7, 10, 18, and 19 (see Initial Brief of Appellant, pp. 92-100). The other claims are simply listed and discussed cumulatively as needing an evidentiary hearing because they related to the lack of an individualized sentencing (Claims 11, 12, 13, and 15), and the constitutionality of the sentencing scheme (Claims 8, 9, 14, 16, and 17). The failure to assert any argument with regard to these claims compels a conclusion that any possible error has been waived. <u>Sweet v. State</u>, 810 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 2002) ("because on appeal Sweet simply recites these claims from his postconviction motion in a sentence or two, without elaboration or explanation, we conclude that these instances of alleged ineffectiveness are not preserved for appellate review"); Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253, 256 n.5 (Fla. 1999); Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 217 n. 6 (Fla. 1999); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation

does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived."). Furthermore, even if the rulings on these claims are considered, it is clear that they are all claims which could have been raised on direct appeal, and therefore summary denial due to the procedural bar was appropriate.¹⁰

A. CLAIM 3 - borderline mental retardation/competency

Cooper first identifies Claim III, which was summarily denied as time barred, as an issue which should have been developed at an evidentiary hearing. Claim III of the amended postconviction motion alleged that Cooper was incompetent to stand trial and that his defense attorney was ineffective for failing to secure a competency evaluation. According to the allegations, Cooper had been classified as a youthful offender months before his trial and was so depressed that he was mutilating himself and had to be medicated with Mellaril (PC. V1/156-157). Cooper asserted that counsel had a number of indications that something was seriously wrong, and if a competency hearing had been conducted, Cooper would have been found incompetent (PC. V1/157-158). Cooper cited from an affidavit prepared by his postconviction mental health expert, Dr. Brad Fisher, which concluded that Cooper's longstanding

¹⁰These claims are also asserted in Cooper's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, Florida Supreme Court Case No. SC02-623, and the State hereby incorporates its response in that case to these claims as well.

intellectual and personality deficits would likely render him unable to understand the proceedings and that his behavior demonstrated that he was not functioning rationally (PC. V1/159).

The court below denied this claim as untimely (PC. V5/811). This ruling was proper because the issue, presented for the first time in an amended postconviction motion, was not presented within the time limit for two year filing postconviction motions. Cooper's convictions and sentences became final on February 23, 1987; his amended postconviction motion was filed on May 18, 1989. No attempt to explain the untimeliness of the claim, or to invoke the exceptions to the two year time limit, have ever been offered. Thus, this claim was barred. Pope v. State, 702 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 1997); Cave v. State, 529 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1982); Eutzy v. State, 541 So. 2d 1143 (Fla. 1989); McConn v. State, 708 So. 2d 308, 310 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (en banc).

Cooper offers no authority to support his assertion that he should have been permitted to raise this claim, he just relies on the fact that his initial motion included a specific request for leave to amend should the continuing postconviction investigation lead to the development of any additional claims. A defendant cannot avoid the application of procedural rules by simply including a blanket statement seeking to amend a pleading

at any time. <u>McConn</u>, 708 So. 2d at 310 (motion for leave to amend "in the best interest of justice" insufficient). This is not a case where the amended motion was filed while Cooper was still within the time frame for filing his motion, as in <u>Gaskin</u> <u>v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 509, 517-18 (Fla. 1999); nor it is a case where the new claim in the amended motion could be characterized as a refinement or enlargement of a timely filed claim, <u>see</u> <u>Brown v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 1992). Thus, the new Claim III raised in Cooper's amended motion was properly denied.

In addition, a substantive claim of incompetency is a direct appeal issue and therefore procedurally barred in postconviction proceedings. <u>Patton v. State</u>, 784 So. 2d 380, 393 (Fla. 2000); <u>Johnston v. Dugger</u>, 583 So. 2d 657, 659 (Fla. 1991). To the extent that Cooper alleges his attorney was ineffective for failing to secure a competency evaluation, his argument is refuted by the record since the defense retained a mental health expert prior to trial, and the expert had concluded that Cooper was competent to stand trial and had been competent at the time of the offense (PC. V7/1061; SV14/2449).

At any rate, any possible error in failing to grant an evidentiary hearing on this untimely claim would be harmless since the claim itself was substantially incorporated into Claim IV, alleging ineffective mental health assistance (PC. V2/160-66). Of course, Claim IV was an issue on which the trial court

permitted an evidentiary hearing, and a review of the testimony from the hearing demonstrates that evidence pertaining to Claim III was also presented and considered. For example, Ky Koch testified that the defense retained Dr. Merin to explore all aspects of the case, including competency (PC. V7/1061). He noted that, while there were times that Cooper did not fully comprehend his situation, by the time of trial Koch felt that Cooper understood what he was facing (PC. V7/1058-59). Ralph Palmeroy, the school principal, testified that Cooper had been academically average, or maybe a little below average, getting mostly Cs with some Bs and Ds thrown in (PC. V7/1087). Palmeroy did not believe that Cooper was borderline retarded, but thought that he had been deprived of experiences that made it difficult to learn (PC. V7/1099).

The expert quoted in the amended motion on this claim, Dr. Brad Fisher, testified at the evidentiary hearing but was never asked about any concerns related to Cooper's alleged incompetence (PC. 8/1217-1305). Fisher testified that Cooper had no major disorder and was not psychotic; although his IQ testing was consistent with Dr. Merin's, demonstrating Cooper's IQ was in the mid-70s and technically borderline, Fisher did not consider this significant and noted that Cooper was "streetwise" (PC. V8/1232-33, 1277). Dr. Merin disagreed with Fisher's suggestion that Cooper could be even borderline retarded,

although he agreed with the IQ score, because Merin believed that Cooper's vocabulary and syntax demonstrated a street-wise intelligence even if Cooper's academic intelligence was not at a high level (PC. V11/1663-64). Merin also noted that his review of Fisher's report and the jail records did not reference any suicide attempts; although some self-destructive thinking was evident, Cooper had denied being suicidal and told Merin that he would not harm himself because Cooper thought it was morally wrong to do so (PC. V11/1660-61).

The denial of this claim by Judge Walker in 1992 was never challenged in the years of postconviction litigation that followed, despite the fact that a new judge and new defense attorneys took over the case. No abuse of discretion has been shown by the denial of Cooper's attempt to present this claim in his amended petition. <u>Huff v. State</u>, 762 So. 2d 476, 481 (Fla. 2000). Given the evidence in the record and the testimony from the evidentiary hearing rebutting this claim, any possible error in summarily denying the claim as time barred when initially presented is clearly harmless. No basis for a remand for further consideration of this issue has been shown, and this Court must deny relief.

B. CLAIM 5 - ineffective assistance of counsel

Cooper next asserts that several allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel were improperly summarily denied. The

relevant allegations asserted counsel was deficient by 1) failing to object to violations of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985); 2) failing to object to victim impact evidence; 3) failing to object to a jury instruction on the penalty phase vote; and that counsel was rendered ineffective by the trial court's actions in 4) denial of a continuance for penalty phase; and 5) an undetected conflict of interest based on attorney Crider's prior employment at the State Attorney's Office.¹¹ Cooper does not address his claims specifically but simply asserts that because they involved allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, they were appropriate for consideration in postconviction and should have been subject to an evidentiary hearing.

The law is well established that Cooper cannot avoid a procedural bar on direct appeal issues by presenting them under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. It is facially apparent that the claims recited in this subissue are improper attempts to recast a direct appeal issue into a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, and therefore summary denial was appropriate. <u>Asay v. State</u>, 769 So. 2d 974 (Fla. 2000); Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 699 (Fla. 1998). In addition, the court below considered the claims and determined

¹¹The summary denial of the claim regarding Crider's alleged conflict with the State Attorney's Office was addressed in Issue III.A.

that no deficiency had been indicated as the objections which Cooper claims should have been lodged would not have been sustained (PC. V5/811-13). Thus, even if considered, these claims would have been rejected. No error has been demonstrated.

C. CLAIM 7 - court's failure to weigh sentencing factors

Claim VII of the amended petition asserted that Cooper was denied a reliable, individualized sentencing determination, as the requirement for a written sentencing order was violated because 1) specific written findings were not made as to each sentence, and 2) at the time the sentences were imposed, no specific findings were made and the court's oral comments were conclusory (PC. V2/236). Cooper asserts that summary denial of this issue was improper because the issue, as pled, included an allegation that the State had prepared the sentencing order, and that this claim could not have been raised on direct appeal. A review of the amended postconviction motion refutes this assertion. In fact, the claim asserted only that the trial court failed to properly weigh the aggravating and mitigating factors, clearly a direct appeal issue (PC. V2/235-239). The statement within Claim VII asserting that, "Finally, the identity of the sentencing order suggests that they may have been prepared by the Office of the State Attorney," was qualified by footnote 3, which stated that the State had not

fully complied with public records requests, and once it did so, "evidence of the involvement of the Office of the State Attorney in the preparation of the sentencing order may become apparent" (PC. V2/239).

An allegation that future record disclosures may indicate a possible postconviction claim is insufficient. <u>See Maharaj v.</u> <u>State</u>, 778 So. 2d 944 (Fla. 2000) (postconviction hearing not warranted on speculation). Cooper has never identified any facts which suggest that the State Attorney's Office had any involvement in the drafting of the sentencing order filed in this case. Absent specific factual allegations to support this claim, no evidentiary hearing was warranted, and this issue was properly summarily denied.

D. CLAIM 10 - right to jury sentencing

Cooper also asserts that his claim that Florida's capital sentencing statute unconstitutionally deprived him of his right to jury sentencing should have been considered because the United States Supreme Court is currently reconsidering the validity of Arizona's (judge-sentencing) death penalty statute. The fact that the United States Supreme Court is reviewing a claim similar in nature (on direct certiorari review) does not excuse Cooper from failing to raise the issue at the appropriate time. Regardless of the outcome of the decision in <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, United States Supreme Court Case No. 01-488 (argued

April 22, 2002), any claim challenging the application of Florida's sentencing statute must have been presented to the trial court and on direct appeal. The assertion that Florida's capital sentencing statute violates the constitutional right to a jury trial was often alleged around the time of Cooper's trial and direct appeal. There are no new facts or law which legitimize this claim and therefore it is barred.

E. CLAIM 18 - sentencing statute unconstitutional as applied

Cooper also asserts that Claim 18, challenging the constitutionality of the death penalty as applied in this case, should not have been rejected as procedurally barred because it was not a per se challenge to the constitutionality of his sentence. He cites Jones v. Butterworth, 691 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1997), as an example of a case where a postconviction claim that the death penalty was unconstitutional as applied was subject to an evidentiary hearing. Jones involved the constitutionality of Florida's electric chair as it functioned at that time; there were new facts, unavailable at the time of Jones's direct appeal, which pertained to the issue raised. Cooper's claim that the death penalty should not be applied due to his intellectual and neurological impairments did not rely on any facts which were not known or discoverable at the time of Thus, his claim was procedurally barred, Cooper's trial.

falling into the category of claims which must be presented prior to trial and on direct appeal. <u>See Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 1126 (Fla. 1982) (challenge to constitutionality of statute as applied must be raised at trial and on appeal). Therefore, no error is shown in the summary denial of this issue.

F. CLAIM 19 - newly discovered evidence

Cooper's final allegation in this issue asserts that the court should have permitted an evidentiary hearing on his claim that newly discovered evidence established that Cooper did not fire the last and fatal shot which killed Steven Fridella. Claim XIX was initially presented in an amended petition filed on August 26, 1998 (PC. SV6/1077-1081). The "newly discovered evidence" identified in the motion were two affidavits from Cooper's codefendants, Jeff McCoy [3/23/95] (PC. SV7/1297-99), and Terry Royal (PC. SV7/1301-1304), both of which had been notarized on March 23, 1995. McCoy's affidavit asserted that he heard more shots after Cooper was already running toward the car, and after the last series of shots that Terry Royal, then Jason Walton, came outside and got in the car (PC. SV7/1298). Royal's affidavit stated that he had been the one to return to the house and fire the final two shots, killing Fridella (PC. SV7/1303).

The trial court's denial of Cooper's request to amend his

postconviction motion that had already been pending for eight years is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. <u>Huff v. State</u>, 762 So. 2d 476, 481 (Fla. 2000). Cooper has never explained why this claim, supported only by affidavits available since March, 1995, was not presented to the court until August, 1998. The claim is clearly untimely, and no abuse of discretion is demonstrated in the denial of this amendment.

In addition, there is no reasonable claim that this information could not have been obtained with due diligence. Cooper's codefendants were obviously known to everyone. While Jeff McCoy was not available at the time of Cooper's trial, the possibility of his future availability was discussed on the record. According to Cooper, McCoy's testimony was available from Terry Royal's later capital trial (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 45).

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